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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Good afternoon.

          3  My name is Joe Addabbo, I Chair the Civil Service

          4  and Labor Committe.

          5                 I want to welcome you all here today

          6  for what is a very important issue regarding

          7  employees throughout the City.  At this point I'd

          8  like to thank the staff who put this hearing

          9  together.  To my right here is Counsel to the

         10  Committee Tom Curry.  To my left is Joan Pavolony,

         11  Policy Analyst.  I'd like to thank Daniel Turriago,

         12  the Financial Analyst, and my colleagues, who will

         13  be in and out. We have Dennis Gallagher, who is here

         14  today.  Again, I'll announce the Council Members as

         15  they come here.

         16                 I want to welcome you to what is a

         17  very important issue regarding what is a very

         18  important issue for many employees throughout the

         19  city.

         20                 The Committee today is the Civil

         21  Service and Labor will hold a hearing on Intro. No.

         22  629, a bill that would amend the admistrative code

         23  in relation to prohibiting employers from locking

         24  employees or other individuals working inside the

         25  workplace.
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          2                 Over the years we have witnessed big

          3  box stores to smaller supermarkets subject employees

          4  to being locked inside sometimes overnight for

          5  security reasons. That would potentially cause a

          6  hazardous condition, a dangerous condition, and that

          7  condition is being addressed today.

          8                 Intro. 629 would prohibit an employer

          9  from locking the doors of any workplace when the

         10  health and safety of the employees, independent

         11  contractors, or any other person working at the

         12  workplace may become victims of a dangerous,

         13  harmful, emergency situation or condition.

         14                 An exemption to this prohibition

         15  would be provided where the workplace is locked, but

         16  an exit door is readily available that can readily

         17  be opened from the inside without a key, a tool, or

         18  special knowledge.  I want to appreciate all the

         19  witnesses who will be here today to express their

         20  concerns and to give insight on this Intro. 629. And

         21  again, I want to thank you all for being here today.

         22                 At this point we're going to call our

         23  first Panel from the Administration.  Chief McNally

         24  from the Fire Department, and a representative of

         25  the Buildings Department, I understand.
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          2                   I want to thank you for both being

          3  here today.  If you would kindly give your name for

          4  the record, and then give your testimony, please.

          5                      DONALD RANCHDI: (phonetic),

          6  Director of Intergovernmental Affairs, for the New

          7  York City Department of Buildings.

          8                 PATRICK MCNALLY, I'm the Chief of the

          9  Bureau of Fire Prevention.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you,

         11  gentelmen.  Give your testimony please.

         12                 PATRICK MCNALLY:  Good afternoon,

         13  Chairperson Addabbo, and Council Members.  My name

         14  is Patrick McNally, I'm the Chief of Fire Prevention

         15  for the New York City Fire Department. Thank you for

         16  the opportunity to speak with you today about the

         17  proposed bill Intro. 629.

         18                 Intro. 629 is laudible to the extent

         19  that it addresses and seeks to remedy some very

         20  serious issues.

         21                 For example, the bill prohibits

         22  employers from locking their employees or other

         23  persons inside a workplace endangering their

         24  welfare.  It increases the fines from employers who

         25  do so, and it protects employees from retaliatory
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          2  action by employers who are pursuing their rights

          3  under state and local law, effectively providing

          4  whistle- blower protection to the employees.

          5                 The FDNY takes very seriously the

          6  public safety implications of employers who violate

          7  laws governing the workplace. Our mission is to

          8  protect the lives and properties of all New Yorkers.

          9    Public safety is our first and foremost concern.

         10  We therefore find especially reprehensible the

         11  practice if locking workplace doors so as to

         12  endanger the health and safety of the individuals

         13  inside that workplace.

         14                 Firefighters are also affected by

         15  this practices. If the doors of a building that we

         16  respond to are locked, the Commander of the incident

         17  is forced to adjust his search and rescue tactics to

         18  address a problem that the storeowners have

         19  recklessly created.

         20                 On a practical level, we believe if

         21  the storeowners have an issue with security, so as

         22  to warrant the locking of doors, for example,

         23  employee theft after store hours, we believe that

         24  they should address this by enhancing supervision

         25  rather than jeopardizing the safety of their
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          2  employees.

          3                 Overall, the FDNY believes in Intro.

          4  629 is well intentioned.  However, we do have some

          5  serious concerns with Intro. 629 involving those

          6  parts of the bill that seek to address public safety

          7  for areas that are already regulated by existing

          8  law, or focus on occupancies that may not pose a

          9  public safety risk worthy of the expenditure of

         10  scarce public resources beyond what is currently

         11  allocated.

         12                 In addition, some of the bill's

         13  provisions are not entirely clear and clarifying

         14  language is needed to eliminate these ambiguities.

         15  None the less, because we support the overall goal

         16  of improving workplace safety, at the end of my

         17  testimony I will make some suggestions as to how we

         18  can seek to protect and educate the workers who may

         19  be subjected to the illegal practice of their

         20  employers.  With these measures, I believe we can

         21  reach the targeted population and eliminate the need

         22  for these provisions of Intro. 629 that we regard as

         23  overbroad or redundant.

         24                 We believe that the concerns that

         25  gave rise to Intro. 629 are currently regulated by
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          2  existing City law.  For example, the egress rules of

          3  the City's Administrative Code already prohibit the

          4  blocking or locking of any exit or means of egress

          5  in all occupancies.  There are also rules about

          6  placing certain hardware on exit doors.  The Fire

          7  Department enforces those rules. If the Fire

          8  Department dispatcher receives any complaint about

          9  illegally locked exits, a local company would be

         10  immediately dispatched to investigate and issue

         11  violations or summonses as warranted.  It does not

         12  seem prudent to enact new laws to punish employers

         13  for acts that are already illegal.

         14                 Intro. 629 also states that the

         15  Department must make a minimum of fifty unannounced

         16  inspections per year.  However the provisions

         17  setting forth this requirement is unclear for a

         18  number of reasons.  First, it does not specify

         19  whether these inspections would be random, or would

         20  be focused on known or suspected offenders of the

         21  law, as per the language of the next paragraph that

         22  reads, quote, "When there are known or suspected

         23  conditions effecting employees safety and health."

         24                 Second, while this is an amendment to

         25  the Building Code, and would appear to impose
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          2  inspection requirements on the Department of

          3  Buildings, the next paragraph imposes enforcement

          4  responsibilities on DOB, and FDNY, in conjunction

          5  with the NYPD. In reviewing the bill, the NYPD has

          6  suggested that including the NYPD as one of the

          7  agencies responsible for enforcing the provisions of

          8  the bill, is misplaced.  The enforcement and

          9  inspection requirements of Intro. 629 would probably

         10  be handled by the FDNY and DOB and not primarily by

         11  the NYPD.

         12                 If the intent of the legislation is

         13  to impose this inspection requirement on the FDNY,

         14  we believe that the Department already inspects

         15  these occupancies at sufficient intervals to protect

         16  the public safety.  For instance, the FDNY Bureau of

         17  Fire Prevention inspects these occupancies to renew

         18  annual operating permits, for example, for

         19  refrigeration, or fuel oil storage.  The FDNY field

         20  units also inspect most mercantile establishments

         21  annually, and we increase our inspections of

         22  commercial spaces during the holidays when we expect

         23  customer traffic to increase.

         24                 As I said before, we also immediately

         25  inspect any establishment about which we have
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          2  received a complaint.  The FDNY conducts more

          3  frequent inspections of occupancies that raise more

          4  serious fire safety issues and pose a significantly

          5  higher risk of injury or death in the event of a

          6  fire that a mercantile establishment typically does.

          7    For example, high- rises, day- care centers,

          8  places of public assembly, hospitals and buildings

          9  that store combustible or flammable materials.

         10                 Our experience shows that given

         11  limited Fire Department and Fire Protection

         12  inspection resources it is more prudent to focus on

         13  these occupancies that require closer scrutiny and

         14  oversight.  In theory, conducting very frequent

         15  inspections is a good thing, but the occupancies

         16  targeted by Intro. 629 have not historically raised

         17  serious fire safety issues.

         18            With the enactment of the World Trade

         19  Center legislation last year, the FDNY will be

         20  responsible in the coming months for reviewing the

         21  evacuation plans of more eighteen hundred high rise

         22  buildings.  Intro. 629 adds to this responsibility

         23  by requiring mercantile businesses with an occupancy

         24  lower than five hundred  or more persons or having

         25  twenty five or more employees to have fire safety
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          2  plans and fire safety directives approved and/or

          3  certified by the FDNY.

          4                 The FDNY takes these responsibilities

          5  very seriously for we remain concerned that limited

          6  resources might impact our ability to carry out the

          7  necessary approvals in an expeditious manner.  I am

          8  also concerned that some of the businesses that

          9  would be subject to this law have a high employee

         10  turnover rate.  Fire Safety Directors may come and

         11  go, thereby leading to inconsistent compliance and a

         12  greater number of certifications by the FDNY.

         13                 The bill also requires that all

         14  occupants of the building shall participate and

         15  cooperate in carrying out the provisions of the Fire

         16  Safety Plan.  The difficulty with the occupancies

         17  that Intro. 629 covers is also that during store

         18  hours many of the occupants are customers.  It is

         19  difficult, therefore, to legislate that these

         20  occupants participate and cooperate.  They would not

         21  be as familiar with the Fire Safety Plan as for

         22  example, permanent office tenants of a high rise

         23  building might be.  Never the less, a simple

         24  evacuation plan for any type of occupancy makes

         25  sense, but it may not require legislation.
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          2                 I am also aware that the Building

          3  Code allow certain occupancies to use locks on their

          4  exits as safe guards. For example, penal and mental

          5  institutions may lock their exits.  The proposed

          6  bill should not eliminate these exemptions.  It is

          7  unclear if it does or not.

          8                 Finally, the City's Law Department

          9  has advised me that existing whistle-blower laws

         10  already afford the protection contemplated by Intro.

         11  629.  There may be some overlap, therefore, with the

         12  State and/or local law making this provision

         13  redundant. The FDNY would be willing to incorporate

         14  into our Fire Safety Education literature and

         15  presentations information for employees at

         16  workplaces that may be subjected to the illegal

         17  practices of Intro 629 attempts to address.  This

         18  could include information about their rights as

         19  employees and instructions about what to do if these

         20  rights are being violated.  For example, to call

         21  either 311 or 911.  The FDNY also would be willing

         22  to take part in or launch a public information

         23  campaign in cooperation with OSHA or any other

         24  Federal, State, or local agency as well as any

         25  interested labor organization.
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          2                 Thank you for allowing me this time

          3  to speak with you today.  I'll be happy to answer

          4  your questions at this time.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Chief, thank

          6  you very much. I will have questions in a couple

          7  segments based on your testimony in a bit, but at

          8  this point I want to welcome our colleagues to my

          9  far left.  Council Member Sarah Gonzalez and to her

         10  right, Council Member David Yassky, the prime

         11  sponsor of Intro. 629, and at this point I would ask

         12  Council Member Yassky to give a statement on his

         13  piece of legislation.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you

         15  Chair Addabbo, and first of all I just want to thank

         16  you for holding this hearing and for your leadership

         17  in bringing this issue forward.  I apologize for

         18  being late, I had a previously scheduled engagement

         19  that I ran out of in the middle so we could be here.

         20    But I want to say I have to tell you, Chief, I am

         21  disappointed by the Fire Departments testimony here.

         22  To me, the testimony I just heard can be summed up

         23  as this is not a problem.  It's not a problem that

         24  you have workers locked in overnight.  The direct

         25  evidence that we're going to hear later today says
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          2  it is very much a problem. When the Fifth Avenue

          3  Committee the non- profit, in Brooklyn, did a

          4  survey, within the past year of forty five

          5  supermarkets and other retail stores, throughout the

          6  City, they found, that of those forty five, thirty

          7  six employees reported that they were routinely

          8  locked in overnight, with no ability to get out.

          9  Now when that came out, and I started telling people

         10  in my district about this, people were astonished.

         11  They said, "wait a second, didn't I learn in Grade

         12  School that we have the Triangle Shirtwaist fire and

         13  all those women died because they couldn't get out

         14  when there was a fire and this can't really still be

         15  happening in New York".  It is still happening in

         16  New York, and the fact that it is happening says

         17  that plainly we're not doing enough about it.

         18                 This bill - you say duplications

         19  exist with existing law- the existing penalties are

         20  five hundred dollars, a thousand for the second

         21  offense, fifteen hundred maximum for third, fifth,

         22  fifteenth offense.  Now that is just not enough to

         23  really deter a business.  The main thing this does

         24  is have stiff penalties that match the seriousness

         25  of what people are doing by putting their employees
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          2  at risk.  Five thousand, ten thousand maximum of

          3  fifteen thousand- at the very least- we need to put

          4  those into the law.

          5                 The other part relating to frequency

          6  of inspection, we're not here to micro- manage.  But

          7  I do think it's not enough to just rely on reports

          8  in this instance, because this is a population- this

          9  is a worker population that is particularly unlikely

         10  to bring themselves forward to the government to

         11  report problems.  They may not realize even what

         12  their rights are.  For everybody that comes forth,

         13  we have to assume, because it's gotta be true, that

         14  for everybody that comes forward and makes a report

         15  to you, there's gotta be twenty-five out there that

         16  the same thing is going on, they are just not

         17  bringing themselves forward.

         18                 I would certainly like to work with

         19  the Department and work with your colleague

         20  departments the NYPD, for a bill that works and I

         21  hope you will support.  But I do think that we need

         22  to address how we're going to make sure that the

         23  laws are enforced.

         24                 The other part that is new about this

         25  are the whistle- blower protections which I do think
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          2  are important, given this is a very vulnerable

          3  worker population. Thank you Chair Addabbo for the

          4  opportunity to make that statement.  I won't take

          5  the Committee's time with extensive questions, but I

          6  want to ask how many night time inspections do we do

          7  now?

          8                 CHIEF MCNALLY: Just to go back on a

          9  couple of your points, on the doubling of the fines

         10  we have absolutely no objection, you could triple

         11  them as far as I'm concerned.  You could include

         12  jail time, it would be OK with me.  OK?  The

         13  inspections, the thirty six sites you referred to,

         14  we did inspections in December of 2004 where we were

         15  notified of those, we did them again the July

         16  preceding that, the same sites, when we went there

         17  we just didn't find anybody and I understand there's

         18  a problem with communications.  If we send people

         19  there at night and we told then "after hours", to

         20  make these inspections and there's nobody there,

         21  it's difficult for us to act on it after that.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I'm sorry,

         23  you're saying these are inspections where, you made

         24  an arrangement to inspect  --

         25                 CHIEF MCNALLY: We specifically
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          2  addressed the thirty-six sites that we referred to

          3   --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: That were

          5  okay... I guess my instinct would be that once,

          6  prior to the inspection, somebody at the FDNY called

          7  and said "we want to come by and inspect" --

          8                 CHIEF MCNALLY: No, these were

          9  inspections that were made with no prior

         10  announcement.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  With no prior

         12  annoucement --

         13                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  We took the

         14  information that was supplied to us and we went

         15  there.  We had the Companies go after hours to see

         16  if anything was going on.  We just didn't find

         17  anything.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:   I see.

         19  Look, again, I don't doubt that the vast bulk of

         20  employers are, most employers, are responsible and

         21  that does mean that unannounced inspections for the

         22  most part are going to turn up no problem.  But you

         23  have to do it to make sure that people worry about

         24  getting caught.  Otherwise, there's no deterrence at

         25  all.

                                                            18

          1  CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Our normal

          3  inspections are all unannounced as well, even during

          4  the daylight hours.  We don't advertise.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  When you go

          6  in day, do you ask employees, when you make a

          7  daylight inspection, do you ask employees about what

          8  happens at night?  Is that a routine question?

          9                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  It's not part of

         10  their routine.  We could make it that, we could

         11  include it in the inspection activity. Mainly

         12  they're there to view that there are suitable exits,

         13  extinguishers, things like that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:     Do you

         15  think that would be useful?

         16                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  I'm sure it would

         17  work.  I can do that, I can amend that on my part.

         18  That's not a problem.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you.

         20  Thank you Chief.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you

         22  Council Member Yassky.  Again, Chief I do appreciate

         23  your testimony and your time there today, as well as

         24  the other members of the Administration, but to

         25  share to an extent the statement made by Council
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          2  Member Yassky, I don't believe an appeased posted

          3  legislation that attempts to lives of employees as

          4  well as firefighters should be deemed redundant

          5  because it tries to co- exist with the existing

          6  laws, and hopefully at some point, supplement them

          7  with the other pieces of legislation and again

          8  possibly address the issues that they may not. The

          9  increasing of penalties that Intro 629 does

         10  including some other places that maybe the other

         11  pieces of legislation don't address.   I think there

         12  is a possible need for Intro 629 but I also look,

         13  this Committee also looks to work with you and again

         14  the Council Member to amend 629 so in the

         15  Administration's eyes this better fits within the

         16  framework of the existing legislations.  But I don't

         17  think that this piece of legislation can be deemed

         18  redundant.  I would hope that it looks to coexist

         19  with the existing pieces of legislation.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Chairperson

         21  Addabbo, can I ask, because just thinking about it,

         22  what was at least what was in our mind as we were

         23  trying to work through this was yes, there are

         24  existing penalties for locking a fire exit.  But to

         25  me there's a difference between locking one fire
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          2  exit and locking up everything so there's no egress

          3  at all.  And what I was trying to do here was have a

          4  specific targeted penalty for folks who do that

          5  because that's really - if you lock one fire exit

          6  you're putting people at risk because that's the way

          7  it's designed, and maybe it means people can't get

          8  out there if the fire prevents them from getting to

          9  the one that remains open.  Yes, that's plain

         10  dangerous.

         11                 But this is particularly pernicious

         12  behavior that I thought it was worth addressing

         13  directly.  I'm open to the department's input if

         14  that's you think is not the right way to structure

         15  the enforcement scheme than let's discuss and work

         16  out something we can.  But my paramount goal is

         17  having a way to impose stiff penalties that really

         18  are commensurate with the harm that is being done.

         19                 CHIEF MCNALLY: We have no argument

         20  with that at all.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Well I think

         22  that's a good starting point, the common ground.

         23  I'm happy to see that.  Chief, you brought up in

         24  your testimony that again, that the Intro. 629 does

         25  look to involve different agencies: The Department

                                                            21

          1  CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  of Buildings, the Fire Department, NYPD.  I think

          3  each within their own jurisdiction does have a place

          4  in the enforcement of whether it be existing laws or

          5  even 629 in enforcing this which could be dangerous

          6  situation.  If I may ask once again, the number of

          7  inspectors for FDNY and for the Department of

          8  Buildings, with regards to those are able to do the

          9  inspections.

         10                 CHIEF MCNALLY: The inspections are

         11  conducted by our field units which is the entire

         12  workforce, all the firehouses conduct normal what we

         13  call Apparatus Field Inspection Duty throughout the

         14  year.

         15                 Okay, in addition to that, any

         16  premise that would have a permit that we regulate

         17  they get additional inspections based on the permit.

         18    Maybe there's a range- hood system in a

         19  restaurant, or a sprinkler system that would have to

         20  be inspected.  They get follow- up visits by members

         21  of the Bureau of Fire Prevention which is

         22  approximately three hundred seventy five members.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: So basically

         24  you're saying every member of the Fire Department is

         25  able to do this.
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          2                 CHIEF MCNALLY: All firehouses conduct

          3  normal inspections as a matter of course thoughout

          4  the week.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And if I may

          6  ask the same question of the Buildings Department.

          7  Do we know how many inspectors are able to inspect

          8  these premises?

          9                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: I can certainly

         10  get you the number of inspectors for each Borough,

         11  but we also have emergency response teams which

         12  operate in the overnight period which would be

         13  responding to any emergency conditions.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And if I may

         15  also ask in the perspective of the worker who works

         16  at these places and has a concern about being locked

         17  in an establishment and feels that their safety is

         18  in danger, or at issue, how would you suggest that

         19  they go forward seeing if that establishment is

         20  inspected or calling out to maybe the Administration

         21  to address the situation?

         22                 CHIEF MCNALLY: Any call that we

         23  receive through the 911 or the 311 system, if the

         24  unions involved could provide us with the address,

         25  we would certainly act on them immediately.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Same answer

          3  for Buildings?

          4                 (Unidentified): Yes

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: OK.  Any

          6  questions?  I guess we have a question from Council

          7  Member Sarah Gonzalez.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Good

          9  afternoon.  Thank you Council Member Addabbo and

         10  thank you David Yassky.  I just want to say that

         11  I've always remember my Mom sharing a story about

         12  when she first came from Puerto Rico.  She went to a

         13  restaurant and always pointed at the sign because

         14  she did not know how to say eggs, fried eggs.  So

         15  she ate a lot of toast for a long time.

         16                 I just want to say in respect to

         17  these immigrants and the people that are coming from

         18  different countries.  There's a lot of fear, and

         19  they are afraid to report things.  So we're doing

         20  this I believe, in the interest of these people, and

         21  if one person died, it's one person too much. So I

         22  clearly understand, and as you did, Chief, reported

         23  to us the different codes and the different

         24  departments that work with this right now, I believe

         25  that what this body is trying to do  is to
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          2  understand where is it that we to some extent have

          3  failed, that people continue to die.  And I think

          4  doing it together is what it's about.

          5                 I clearly want to say to you that my

          6  office would be available.  I'm Councilwoman Sarah

          7  Gonzalez, District thirty eight.  In respect to

          8  maybe talking about possible random inspections, not

          9  just daylight inspections, because people are

         10  afraid, they are still afraid to report for fear of

         11  losing their jobs. So if we can work on this

         12  together I certainly partner with you and I thank

         13  you for your testimony.

         14                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Just to follow

         16  up on something that Councilwoman Gonzalez says, in

         17  that the picture is clear, we have the scheduled

         18  inspections and what percentage are there random

         19  inspections if any?

         20                 CHIEF MCNALLY: All of our inspections

         21  are random in that we don't notify anybody that

         22  we're coming to do the inspection.  We have our own

         23  schedule, but we don't notify the storeowners that

         24  we're coming.  So it's random in that respect. But

         25  again, any complaints of say, of say nighttime
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          2  activity, we either notify the local firehouse, 311

          3  or 911 we'll act on it immediately.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Seeing that

          5  there are no further questions, again, I do look

          6  forward to this Committee and Councilman Yassky's

          7  office to again, if we have to fine tune 629 I still

          8  think it has its place among the record books or

          9  City legislation in enforcing what could be a

         10  dangerous situation not only for employees of the

         11  establishment, but also for our City workforce, and

         12  again, the firefighters  who have to do the

         13  inspections as well.  Thank you very much,

         14  gentlemen.  Thank you for your time and testimony.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Our next panel

         16  Philip McArdle from the UFA Health and Safety

         17  Officer; Kirk Swanson from the Retail, Wholesale and

         18  Department Store Union; and Scott Crowley from RWSU

         19  as well.  I want to thank you all for being here

         20  today, and for your testimony.  Would you please

         21  state your name when you give your testimony, I

         22  would gladly appreciate it.

         23                 PHILIP MCARDLE:  My name is Phil

         24  McArdle, I am the Sargeant at Arms, Health and

         25  Safety Officer for the Uniformed Firefighters
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          2  Association.

          3                 KIRK SWANSON:  Kirk Swanson,

          4  Political Director, Retail, Wholesale, and

          5  Department Store Union.

          6                 SCOTT CROWLEY: Scott Crowley, Local

          7  338, RWDSU.

          8                 PHILIP MCARDLE: Good afternoon.

          9  Thank you for allowing me the time and opportunity

         10  to testify in regard to this critical issue.  The

         11  situation regarding lock- ins entails workers who

         12  are in fear of losing their jobs, and won't say

         13  anything to protect themselves.  They are being

         14  forced to being locked into facilities and buildings

         15  at night to perform maintenance and other functions.

         16    Their employers are doing this to prevent thefts.

         17  But at the same time, they are creating a life

         18  safety hazard similar to the Triangle Shirtwaist

         19  Factory fire years ago.  That fire was so

         20  devastating, fire laws were changed, requiring all

         21  exits to be unlocked so that workers would have the

         22  ability to exit a building that was on fire.

         23  History is now in danger of repeating itself. We

         24  cannot allow similar tragedies the opportunity to

         25  occur by simply letting them go unreported.
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          2  Employers must be held accountable for working

          3  conditions and the safety of their employees.

          4                 Workers are unable to make these

          5  reports for a number of reasons.  First, and

          6  foremost, the fear of losing their job.  We need to

          7  ensure that stiff penalties exist for employers who

          8  lock their workers in after hours.  This also puts a

          9  tremendous burden and risk on the first- arriving

         10  fire units, which may have to delay other fire-

         11  related activities to perform searches and rescues

         12  in these situations.  With the help of the New York

         13  City Council, we can work together to ensure that

         14  safety and compliance of their employers.

         15                 Thank you for your time.

         16                 KIRK SWANSON: Good afternoon Chairman

         17  Addabbo and members of the Civil Service and Labor

         18  Committee.  My name is Kirk Swanson, Political

         19  Director of the Retail, Wholesale  and Department

         20  Store Union and I am here testifying on behalf of

         21  President Stuart Applebaum.  The RDWSU represents

         22  approximately one hundred thousand workers in both

         23  the United States and Canada, with more than forty

         24  thousand members living and working in the New York

         25  metropolitan area.
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          2                 I am here today to express our

          3  union's strong support for Intro No. 629 which would

          4  amend the administrative code of the City of New

          5  York with regard to prohibiting employers from

          6  locking their employees or other individuals working

          7  inside a workplace.  RWDSU represents approximately

          8  forty thousand employees who work in retail

          9  establishments and grocery stores throughout the New

         10  York metropolitan area.

         11                 We are all too aware of the pressing

         12  need for this legislation to combat a growing

         13  problem in our City.  One might think the

         14  legislation to strengthen the law to prevent locking

         15  exit doors from the inside would not be necessary.

         16  Not in New York City.  Not where one hundred and

         17  forty- six workers lost their lives March 25th, 1911

         18  at the Triangle Shirtwaist Factory because fire

         19  exits were locked or blocked by the employer.

         20                 The Triangle Shirtwaist Factory

         21  disaster spurred adoption of stricter fire and

         22  building codes.  Unfortunately, a growing number of

         23  employers seem to have forgotten the important

         24  lessons of that day and believe they can get away

         25  with locking employees inside.  At the same time,
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          2  too many employees are fearful of their employment

          3  status and are afraid to complain about this

          4  practice.  This is why we need new legislation.

          5

          6                 Council bill 629 is significant

          7  because it addresses four important aspects of the

          8  issue in a very positive manner. First is

          9  enforcement.  We cannot rely solely on voluntary

         10  compliance.  The bill would mandate the fire and

         11  police departments to conduct unannounced

         12  inspections at facilities to ensure the

         13  identification and abatement of hazardous

         14  conditions.

         15                 Secondly, the legislation strengthens

         16  civil penalties for violations of the law as well as

         17  imposing possible criminal sanctions.  This will

         18  send an important message to the employers that

         19  those who choose to disregard the safety and well

         20  being of their employees will do so at a price.

         21                 Another important aspect of the

         22  legislation is that it would provide recourse for

         23  employees who believe that they have been retaliated

         24  against for assisting in the identification of

         25  possible code violations.  This is so important.
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          2  Those workers who are most in need of this

          3  legislation are often too afraid to speak up for

          4  fear of being fired.

          5                 Finally, and most importantly, the

          6  legislation actively promotes prevention of fire-

          7  related disasters.  Intro. No. 629 would mandate the

          8  development of comprehensive fire safety plans for

          9  occupancy group C mercantile establishments.  This

         10  would include ensuring that all such facilities have

         11  trained individuals who can direct the safe and

         12  orderly evacuation of their building if necessary.

         13                 The RWDSU strongly urges you to give

         14  your approval to Intro. No. 629.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 SCOTT CROWLEY:  Good afternoon,

         17  Chairman Addabbo and members of the Civil Service

         18  and Labor Committee.

         19                 My name is Scott Crowley and I am

         20  here on behalf of John Durso, President of Local

         21  three thirty eight of the RWDSU. Local three thirty

         22  eight represents approximately seventeen thousand

         23  workers in supermarkets, drug stores, dairies,

         24  warehouses, and healthcare facilities throughout the

         25  City.
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          2                 I would like to thank your for

          3  conducting this hearing concerning an issue that is

          4  important to our members, and to all workers in New

          5  York, protecting workers from employers who lock

          6  employees inside a workplace.  Stopping this

          7  dangerous practice is a difficult task, but it is

          8  one whose time has come. I'd also like to thank

          9  Councilman Yassky for introducing this legislation.

         10                 Whatever reasons an employer may pose

         11  for locking employees inside a workplace, and there

         12  have been some outlandish excuses offered, from

         13  protecting against theft to actually suggesting it

         14  is for workers safety, the practice is not only

         15  unsafe, but historically deadly.

         16                 We've all learned about the Triangle

         17  Shirtwaist Fire in which one hundred forty six women

         18  and young girls perished in a fire because they were

         19  locked in a Greenwich Village factory with no way

         20  out.  It's been almost one hundred years since the

         21  fire, and not much has changed.  In fact, the so-

         22  called big box companies that litter the landscape

         23  of American business continue to intimidate workers

         24  to keep them from unionizing.  Sometimes it seems as

         25  if we're moving backwards, hurtling toward the
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          2  barbaric working conditions of the past instead of

          3  progressing.

          4                 In 2000, a Sears Roebuck in Brooklyn

          5  was fined over eighty- two thousand dollars in

          6  cumulative violations for padlocking fire exits and

          7  trapping employees in the store.  In fact, just last

          8  year, a Sam's Club employee, after severely crushing

          9  his ankle beneath a piece of heavy machinery had to

         10  wait over an hour to get to an emergency room

         11  because the ambulance was waiting outside while the

         12  doors were locked.

         13                 Without legislation, these big box

         14  companies will continue to run wild.  Because so

         15  much of this industry is non union, companies like

         16  Wal- Mart and others do not have to play by union

         17  rules and can and do commit what amounts to

         18  atrocities on a daily basis.

         19                 According to the New York Times, many

         20  Wal- Mart stores actually have lock- in policies,

         21  making trapping workers inside facilities company

         22  standard.  Wal- Mart, never one to worry about

         23  public perception, admits that the reason they lock

         24  workers inside facilities with no way out is to

         25  eliminate worker theft and worker breaks.  They even
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          2  threaten workers that if they use the fire exits,

          3  they will be immediately terminated.  It's hard to

          4  believe a company would put their employees at such

          5  great risk. But without changes to the law, and with

          6  Wal- Mart as the model for big box companies, this

          7  practice will continue to spread.

          8                 This is where the Committee comes in.

          9    Most of the stores engaging in this practice are

         10  non- union, and they are simply not going to police

         11  themselves.  They believe that ensuring workers

         12  safety does not pay.  And since these companies are

         13  only looking at the bottom line, the only way to put

         14  an end to these barbaric practices is to hurt them

         15  on the bottom line.  Make it unprofitable to carry

         16  on on these abuses of working people.

         17                 Local three thirty eight urges the

         18  City Council and this Committee to pass Intro. 629

         19  and protect New York workers from another potential

         20  disaster.  Until the time comes that we can unionize

         21  these workers without their feeling intimidated with

         22  the threat of termination or worse, someone must

         23  protect them.  It is incumbent then, upon us, to

         24  pass laws that protect our fellow citizens from the

         25  greed of corporations who perpetrate these crimes.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 COUNCIL CHAIR ADDABBO: Thank you very

          4  much. And thank this panel.  Before I get to Council

          5  Member Yassky  make this very clear, this is not

          6  just a union issue regarding union workers. This is

          7  a worker issue, regarding workers across the City,

          8  union and non- union, so this is a far- reaching

          9  piece of proposed legislation.  We're including

         10  every worker who works some workplace throughout the

         11  City.

         12                 This Committee, The Civil Service and

         13  Labor Committee, previously in the past, we have had

         14  hearings right here regarding big box stores, and

         15  the many issues that are related to the big box

         16  store issues.  And one of them that came up at the

         17  hearing is the safety of the worker.  And the rights

         18  of the worker and the workplace.  Do you think

         19  because of the popularity of the big box store that

         20  this being locked inside and obviously causing a

         21  dangerous situation is a growing issue as the

         22  popularity of the big box store is growing as well?

         23                 SCOTT CROWLEY: It's that and more.

         24  What you're seeing is a business model that's

         25  driving down prices at the expense of the workers
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          2  safety and other considerations.  Their livelihood.

          3  And the way it's compounded is if you look at the

          4  lives of undocumented workers in this country and in

          5  certain business districts in New York City and

          6  throughout the country that we deal with where you

          7  have a workforce that is additionally threatened

          8  because of their status who are in many situations

          9  held in these abominable conditions.

         10                 I'd also like to take this moment to

         11  once again show for the labor movement in general.

         12  One of the beauties of having a collective

         13  bargaining contract is general, if something happens

         14  like this, there's recourse through that contract.

         15  And what's happening in these non- unionized stores

         16  is largely a factor of not only a national but a

         17  state indifference in terms of regulatory practices

         18  that is making the situation increasingly worse

         19  which is is yes, Chairman Addabbo, greater fueled in

         20  a greater way through the big box, the growth of the

         21  big box model.

         22                 CHAIRMAN ADDABBO:   Anybody else want

         23  to weigh in on that issue?   Council Member Yassky.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Well thank

         25  you.  I really just want to thank the panel for not
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          2  just for your support here, but for the work you've

          3  put in on this issue.  I think Mr. Swanson really

          4  just put it right on the head and Mr. Crowley, the

          5  last part of your statement as well, that for

          6  decades, really, for decades, we have relied upon

          7  unions to do a lot of the worker safety policing and

          8  enforcement. But that's the public's responsibility,

          9  and in some ways, we've gotten off without having to

         10  do it in large parts of the economy where there's a

         11  strong and healthy labor representation.  And now we

         12  have parts of the economy where you don't.  It means

         13  that we have to do what is in truth really the

         14  pubic's job.  So I thank you for certainly for your

         15  efforts on this particular one.

         16                 To this panel, you hear when Chief

         17  McNally spoke on behalf of the Administration and

         18  the Fire Department.  Where would you say, hearing

         19  Chief's testimony, what would you say to the

         20  Administration to try and convince them that Intro.

         21  629 is not redundant, and is needed?  What would you

         22  say if you had your opportunity?

         23                 (unidentified)  I would say that in

         24  the current situation and I hate to mix words this

         25  way, but we're playing with fire.  I'd like them to
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          2  look into the future, and have to answer that

          3  question that's posed to them by some parent

          4  somewhere.

          5                 (Unidentified)  I think the Council

          6  here has an opportunity to work both with the Fire

          7  Department and with the Fire unions to come up with

          8  a comprehensive plan that will address tis issue,

          9  and I think that we should strive to at least have

         10  some meetings jointly to try and overcome this

         11  obstacle.

         12                 COUNCIL CHAIR ADDABBO:  I tend to

         13  agree with you. You know to deal with what we, I

         14  think the word is common ground here that we all

         15  agree upon and then work from there to go forward.

         16  Mr. Crowley?

         17                 SCOTT CROWLEY:  I was just going to

         18  quickly say that he mentioned redundancy and I think

         19  that if workers safety and people's lives are at

         20  risk, I think it's worth a little redundancy to make

         21  sure that these people are OK and taken care of.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Do you know of

         23  maybe any of your members, or maybe someone that you

         24  know who has been in what we will consider a

         25  dangerous situation or an emergency situation, and
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          2  has this person that you know of your membership

          3  have they had a problem coming forward in reporting

          4  this?  Do you think there is a problem here for

          5  employees?

          6                 (unidentified)  Thankfully, to the

          7  best of my knowledge, our members have not had this

          8  problem of being locked in the stores.  In fact,

          9  most of the things that I've understood in looking

         10  at, is that they are non- union employers that have

         11  been doing this practice.  But the purpose of the

         12  union is for when they have a situation, whether it

         13  be this or anything else, they can come to their

         14  union representative without fear of having their

         15  job terminated or threatened.

         16                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Now I'd like

         17  to kick this up onto a national level, because the

         18  RWDSU does represent poultry workers largely in the

         19  south.  And one of the instances of workers being

         20  locked in is in Hamlet, North Carolina where twenty

         21  five people were locked in and died as a result of

         22  this.  Now, as a union, we're constantly fighting on

         23  workplace safety issues.  It's just the nature of

         24  the job, it's just the nature of the collective

         25  bargaining agreement.
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          2                 In an industry like poultry

          3  processing, which is the most God-awful job you can

          4  probably have, this is a constant struggle for us.

          5  So yes, the answer to your question is do we know

          6  people, absolutely, but even more to the point, this

          7  is an issue that speaks to us especially when we're

          8  on organizing drives. Especially when we're going to

          9  stores that you're talking about and some of these

         10  violators are obviously far below the level of in

         11  terms of safety that are unionized employers are.

         12  But in these organizing drives, there we hit it head

         13  on.  Over and over, and over again, and what we're

         14  seeing as a trend in our organizing efforts is that

         15  this process, this business model that's taken this

         16  country by the throat, is making it harder and

         17  harder and making conditions worse and worse.

         18                 And what I love about this piece of

         19  legislation is that here in New York City, here in

         20  this island of progressivism, amidst this Federal

         21  debacle, we have this opportunity to move forward,

         22  and yes, create some redundancy and create some

         23  safety in the lives of our City's working men and

         24  women.  Tremendously important legislation.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Well, I want to
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          2  thank this panel for their time and testimony.  I

          3  look forward to working with you in the near future

          4  on this.

          5                 Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Let's call up

          7  our next panel. We have Amy Carroll with I believe

          8  client and a translator.  We have Lynn Kelly, also

          9  Legal Services.  And Rajani Adhikary.  Please step

         10  forward.

         11                   I want to thank you all for being

         12  here today on a very important hearing for employees

         13  throughout the City, as well as our City workers as

         14  well.  If you would please state your name for the

         15  record and give your testimony.

         16                 LYNN KELLY:  Thank you.  My name is

         17  Lynn Kelly and I am the Executive Director of MFY

         18  Legal Services.  Thank you very much for inviting us

         19  here today to testify today on Intro. No. 629. I am

         20  here with our attorney, Amy Carroll, and our client,

         21  Antonio.

         22                 MFY supports the bill, and we believe

         23  that it's a very important bill for improving

         24  conditions for workers.  I'd like to give you a

         25  little bit of background on MFY Legal Services and
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          2  let you know why we think this bill is very

          3  important to the health and safety of workers.

          4                 MFY Legal Services is a non- profit

          5  legal services which has provided free civil legal

          6  services to low- income New Yorkers since 1963.

          7  Since 2001, enforcing the legal rights of low wage

          8  workers has been one of MFY's top priorities.  We

          9  became active in this area because of the unmet

         10  needs of workers who had little or no understanding

         11  of their legal rights, and no access to legal

         12  counsel.  We currently are one of the leading

         13  sources of legal assistance to low- wage workers in

         14  New York City who are facing employment problems.

         15                 In 2004 we represented over four

         16  hundred individuals on employment cases, ranging

         17  from unpaid wages to denials of unemployment

         18  insurance.  The wages were covered in the

         19  unemployment insurance benefits that we have

         20  obtained helped to keep families off public

         21  assistance and stable in their neighborhoods.

         22                 As part of our project, we work

         23  closely worker centers around the City, many of

         24  which work with immigrant workers and day laborers.

         25  Through our collaboration with Fifth Avenue
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          2  Committee, we learned of the extent of the problem

          3  of the locking in of night janitors in the grocery

          4  stores throughout New York City.  We were shocked

          5  that this practice was continuing despite the clear

          6  threat it poses to the health and safety of the

          7  workers.

          8                 On March 25, 2005, the anniversary of

          9  the Triangle Shirtwaist fire, MFY filed suit on

         10  behalf of three janitors against two grocery stores

         11  in the Bronx, where our clients were locked in

         12  overnight while they cleaned the store floors.  We

         13  were lucky to obtain the pro bono assistance from

         14  Patters, Bell, Net, Webb, and Tyler in bringing this

         15  case.  The court papers allege that all the doors of

         16  the store were locked, blocked, or gated shut

         17  throughout the night while they worked.  The workers

         18  used heavy propane fueled or electrical equipment

         19  that was often in disrepair creating a serious risk

         20  of injury of fire.  They also had to use strong

         21  cleaning chemicals and the fumes could be

         22  overpowering at times.

         23                 The workers usually labored alone.

         24  The workers endured these risky conditions knowing

         25  the whole time that if something went wrong, they
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          2  would be unable to escape from the stores.

          3                 We were shocked when we first learned

          4  that this practice was going on.  It's hard to

          5  imaging that in this day and age, and in light of

          6  New York's history of tragic fires from the Triangle

          7  Shirtwaist Factory and the Happy Land Social Club,

          8  that workers are still forced to work without access

          9  to a reliable emergency exit.

         10

         11                 After the law suit was filed we heard

         12  from many New Yorkers who were outraged to know that

         13  people were locked in while working on the overnight

         14  shift.  Even more disturbing, we have received calls

         15  from individuals who have seen the press coverage

         16  about the case who report that they too have been

         17  locked in while they work at night.

         18                 This is essentially an invisible

         19  problem.  While New Yorkers sleep at night, they

         20  have little idea that countless workers clean the

         21  stores they frequent without access to a reliable

         22  access to an exit in the case of an emergency.

         23                 Through the law suit, we are hoping

         24  to draw attention to the problem, and to push

         25  establishments to change this life- threatening
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          2  practice.  However, one court case is not going to

          3  fix the problem without improved legislation and

          4  enhanced enforcement.  MFYs resources are limited.

          5  We cannot sue every establishment in the City that

          6  locks in their nighttime workers and the problem

          7  cannot be addressed under class action.

          8                 This bill is important for two key

          9  reasons.  It changes the financial calculation made

         10  by establishments breaking the law.  Only when

         11  breaking the law is more costly than obeying it will

         12  some establishments provide safe work environments.

         13  Stores show no concern for the value of the lives

         14  and safety of their workers when they lock them

         15  inside overnight.  Only when a hefty price tag is

         16  attached to violating City regulations will more

         17  stores pay attention.

         18                 Secondly, meaningful enforcement

         19  requires a series of targeted investigations like

         20  the ones required under the bill. To date,

         21  enforcement has relied on workers calling in

         22  complaints. This simply is not a realistic approach

         23  to changing this practice. Nighttime workers who

         24  often work alone are often fearful of retaliation

         25  and thus, do not complain about unsafe conditions.
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          2                 Furthermore, many are not even aware

          3  that the locking- in practice in fact, violates the

          4  law.

          5                 We're very thankful for Councilman

          6  Yassky's leadership on this bill, and for the

          7  Chair's holding the hearing on the bill.  We think

          8  this is a very important issue for the City of New

          9  York, and we are very happy to provide whatever

         10  technical assistance.  One of our attorneys,

         11  Shentoli Huck (phonetic) is prepared to work with

         12  the Council and any of the other parties that are

         13  interested in making sure the bill is an effective

         14  one, and we would be more than happy to offer that

         15  assistance.

         16                 Amy Carroll is to my right, she is

         17  the attorney who is the counsel on the Bronx case,

         18  and she's also happy to answer any questions that we

         19  may have.  I will just caution that because the case

         20  is in litigation, there may be certain questions

         21  that we just aren't comfortable answering.

         22                 I'm pleased to introduce Antonio who

         23  is one of the plaintiffs in the Bronx case, who will

         24  speak briefly about his experiences of being locked

         25  in while working in a grocery store and why he
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          2  supports the bill.

          3                 ANTONIO: (Speaking in foreign

          4  language)

          5                 OCTAVIO GARLA (phonetic):  My name is

          6  Octavio Garla, I'll be translating Antonio's

          7  testimony.

          8                 My name is Antonio, I am here

          9  representing many workers who are fearful to speak

         10  out.  I work cleaning supermarkets for many years in

         11  the City.  While the world was sleeping, I work all

         12  night long.  In many of the stores where I work, I

         13  was locked in throughout my night shift without any

         14  manner of escape.

         15                   In the moment when they lock me in

         16  the market, I felt terrible because I was trapped

         17  inside.  Fearing there could be an accident or fire

         18  and I couldn't escape.  If a family member needed

         19  me, I couldn't escape.  If I were to have a heart

         20  attack, I will die alone.  It depressed me to know

         21  how little my life was worth to these bosses.

         22                 Since I was young, I have worked very

         23  hard and I believe that it is my right that in my

         24  work, I am safe to work without fear of suffering in

         25  an accident that can be prevented.  I don't
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          2  understand the attitude of the managers and store

          3  owners that lock me in.  It seemed that their

          4  merchandise was more important than my life.  I felt

          5  terrible because this is a selfish act, in that they

          6  defend their own interests, but the most important

          7  thing, which is my life, doesn't interest them at

          8  all.

          9                 Some have asked why workers don't

         10  report this problem.  And it is because workers

         11  don't know the laws.  They lack information and they

         12  are scared to lose their job.  Fortunately, there

         13  hasn't been a tragedy yet, like a fire.  But we need

         14  to have inspections throughout the City and to have

         15  higher fines for those who break the law.  For these

         16  it is imperative that this law is passed.  The

         17  government cannot wait for another tragedy to act.

         18                 RAJANI ADHIKARY:  Good afternoon, my

         19  name is Rajani Adhakary.  I am a restaurant worker

         20  and I am the policy organizer for the Restaurant

         21  Opportunity Center of New York.  There are one

         22  hundred and sixty- five thousand restaurant workers

         23  in New York City.  We are seventy percent immigrant

         24  and people of color.  We are often living in the

         25  City without legal status, supporting families and
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          2  speaking many languages besides English.

          3                 Many of us come here from around the

          4  world, and the restaurant industry is the first

          5  place where many of us are able to find employment.

          6  The restaurant industry provides us with jobs that

          7  are stressful, and more often than not, our rights

          8  as workers are exploited and undermined.  Most of us

          9  do not receive our lawful overtime, many of us are

         10  not receiving even minimum wage.  We are

         11  discriminated against and when we are injured, we

         12  are often told that Workers' Compensation is not an

         13  option.

         14                 In the restaurant industry, an

         15  industry where only one percent of us enjoy union

         16  status, we are often left unprotected.  We join

         17  organizations like Rock New York, a membership-

         18  based workers center where workers come together to

         19  organize and fight against exploitation.  Many of my

         20  fellow restaurant workers that join our organization

         21  work as porters. Porters, in restaurant speak, are

         22  the people that are hired to clean restaurants when

         23  they are not in service.  Porters often travel at

         24  night, work alone, and are left locked inside the

         25  restaurants for eight to ten hour shifts.
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          2                 Being locked in is common.  It is a

          3  practice that is used overtly, and without shame by

          4  many restaurant owners. They consider the option as

          5  a way to save on staff fees.  By locking someone in

          6  a restaurant, the owner does not have to pay someone

          7  to manage a night staff of cleaners.  It is a common

          8  practice, a practice that many of us talk of

          9  casually because it is our reality.  And for many of

         10  us who come as new immigrants who do not know yet

         11  that there are labor laws that can protect us, we

         12  see this as just another part of the American

         13  experience.

         14            If there are fires or chemical poisonings

         15  as there often are in restaurants due to the lack of

         16  accessible or good safety trainings, the workers who

         17  are locked in are left alone to deal with these

         18  life- threatening circumstances on their own.  It

         19  is, as one of our members told me recently of his

         20  experience, a form of slavery.

         21                 We are unable to have statistical

         22  data at this time about how many restaurant workers

         23  are locked in.  Sadly there's been little research

         24  about workers and workplace conditions done on our

         25  booming industry.  All I can say is if you ask any
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          2  restaurant worker of this condition, they will tell

          3  you it is common and it is happening, and it is

          4  putting our people in danger.

          5                 Please know that restaurant workers

          6  will benefit from a bill that is targeted to those

          7  employers who put us at risk. We ask that you work

          8  on our behalf and think of us while you make your

          9  decisions.

         10                 Thank you to the Council Member

         11  Yassky for introducing this Bill and to Council

         12  Member Addabbo.  Thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you very

         14  much, and I want to thank Rajani and Antonio for

         15  putting a face on this issue, this issue that again

         16  affects many, many employees throughout the City and

         17  you're showing that it doesn't have to be a big box

         18  store, this is local, small restaurant or grocery

         19  store that again, has this dangerous condition. So I

         20  want to thank you and for also showing that as

         21  Antonio had mentioned that for some employers, there

         22  merchandise which can easily be replaced, means more

         23  to them than a life that cannot be replaced.

         24                 Again, I think this is a growing

         25  concern, and should be a growing concern in the City
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          2  and I am happy that this Committee is taking up this

          3  issue in the hopes of saving a life or two of an

          4  employee.  I also want to ask at this point- is

          5  anyone here from the Administration?

          6                 Thank you.  I appreciate your staying

          7  around.

          8                 Here's a question to the two

          9  employees who we have here.  You were considered

         10   "forced" to stay in your workplace, being locked in

         11  as if you had no choice in the matter, you had no

         12  say in the matter, but if you did speak out, it's a

         13  possibility that you might have been fired?  Is that

         14  true?  And I know with the pending law suit if there

         15  is a problem, let me know.

         16                 ANTONIO: (Speaking in a foreign

         17  language)

         18                 OCTAVIO GARLA: Yes, of course when I

         19  had this job, I felt I had no other option.  We are

         20  always afraid of losing our job.  So you always feel

         21  like you that you have no other option.

         22                 RAJANI ADHIKARY: I just want to make

         23  clear I have never been a lock- in employee.

         24  However, speaking with folks who have been locked in

         25  who work as porters, there is no other option. You
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          2  are literally locked inside and generally this

          3  happens at the larger restaurants.  Sadly, like the

          4  big name restaurants, where they hire the staff, or

          5  sometimes its just one or two, and lock you inside

          6  for eight to ten hour shifts and you literally sit

          7  and just wait until the morning crew arrives.  Even

          8  if you're done with your work, I mean it doesn't

          9  matter, you have to literally sit.  You have no

         10  other options.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  So for an

         12  employee whose locked in a situation in a store, if

         13  their job is done, there is no way out.  They have

         14  to sit there and wait.

         15                 RAJANI ADHIKARY: Yes, that's correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  When this

         17  situation, if either of you have had this situation,

         18  if and when you approached your employer and stated

         19  Why do I have to be locked in? What reason does that

         20  employer give and does he rectify, does he make an

         21  attempt to rectify the situation?

         22                 RAJANI ADHIKARY:  Do you want to

         23  answer first?

         24                 If it's OK, we're not going to

         25  respond to that because it's part of the ongoing
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          2  litigation.  I can respond, literally you are told

          3   "We don't trust you.  That you might steal from our

          4  bar, and that we don't trust you".

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: With the law

          6  suit, just if I may, what is the timeline which

          7  stage of the lawsuit are we at, at this point, and

          8  what is the timeline?

          9                 AMY CARROLL:  We filed the law suit

         10  on March 25th, so we're in the process of discovery.

         11    Yeah.  We also filed a Freedom of Information

         12  request with the Fire Department about some of its

         13  inspections and we're still waiting for a response

         14  from them.  It's been over thirty days and we

         15  haven't had an acknowledgment of our request.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Miss Carroll, a

         17  question.  Has MFY have had previous cases similar

         18  to this one where employees have been locked in or

         19  is this the first case that you have handled on this

         20  issue?

         21                 AMY CARROLL:  This is the first case

         22  we have handled on it.  I think what's interesting

         23  about the situation is its an invisible problem.

         24  Every night there's somebody, somewhere, cleaning

         25  the floors and I think for the workers they don't
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          2  realize that they have rights, that they can speak

          3  out.  And it was shocking after we filed the law

          4  suit and all the media coverage, we got calls from

          5  people who tracked down MFY's numbers through

          6  information to say "I was locked in when I was

          7  working as well". So I think the more that this

          8  issue gets out in the media and with this bill, it's

          9  going to bring more people forward to talk about

         10  their experiences.

         11                 I just want to add, I think you're

         12  absolutely right.  Speaking with a group of workers

         13  yesterday about this issue most of them had no idea

         14  that it was illegal as well.  It's just something

         15  that's done so commonplace and talked about so

         16  freely, it's as if it's totally legal.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  You know there

         18  lies the fact that there may even be obviously a

         19  need for Intro 629 because this law suit that you

         20  have may set a precedent.  And may open up again,

         21  additional law suits for maybe class action suits of

         22  a number of employees who have a grievance against a

         23  certain employer.  So this legislation and your law

         24  suit could be ground breaking for again, a situation

         25  that does affect the lives of many employees
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          2  throughout the City.

          3                 Council Member Yassky.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

          5  First of all, Antonio, I just want to thank you for

          6  your courage in being willing to put yourself

          7  forward in a way that can only you know, doesn't

          8  help you, but it can help hundreds, maybe thousands

          9  of people who are in the situation maybe you've been

         10  in.  So thank you for doing that.

         11                 How many years did you work for

         12  supermarkets overnight shift?

         13                 AMY CARROLL: He worked for

         14  approximately five years cleaning different

         15  supermarkets.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And how many

         17  times during that working the overnight shift was

         18  there ever a government inspection, either Fire

         19  Department or Buildings Department during the night

         20  to see if the Fire Code was being violated?

         21                 ANTONIO (speaking a foreign language)

         22                 OCTAVIO GARLA: One time I had to call

         23  the Fire Department because a customer was locked in

         24  inside with me. Another time, just one time, the

         25  Fire Department came and inspected.  And if I might
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          2  add, I'm the Director of Organizing for the Fifth

          3  Avenue Committee that was after we delivered the

          4  list to the Fire Department.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I see.  So

          6  after that, there was an inspection prior to the

          7  Fire Department being called, and being notified,

          8  was there ever an inspection to find out if people

          9  were being placed at risk?

         10                 AMY CARROLL:  Not that he's aware of,

         11  no.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

         13  Thank you Chair Addabbo.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you

         15  Council Member Yassky.  And again, I want to thank

         16  this panel for their time and testimony.  I wish you

         17  a lot of luck in the law suit.

         18                 AMY CARROLL:  Thank you

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: I'd like to call

         20  the last panel for today.  Michelle de Lacruz, Joel

         21  Shufro, Amy Sngimori, and Jacqueline Vimo.

         22                 Thank you, please proceed.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Chairman

         24  Addabbo is, there's a vote in another committee in

         25  which he sits.  He has to go vote, and he'll return.
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          2                 MICHELLE DE LA UZ: Well the Committee

          3  certainly is is good stead with you there David.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Let's hope.

          5                 MICHELLE DE LA UZ: Thank you Council

          6  Member Yassky and other members here for holding

          7  this hearing and for the opportunity to testify.  My

          8  name is Michelle de la Uz, and I'm the Executive

          9  Director of the Fifth Avenue Committee.  And Council

         10  Member Yassky, thank you very much for your

         11  leadership on this issue.

         12                 The Fifth Avenue Committee is a

         13  twenty- seven year old, community- based

         14  organization committed to advancing social and

         15  economic justice in South Brooklyn.  We do that

         16  principally though the development and management of

         17  affordable housing, creating economic opportunities,

         18  and organizing residents and workers around economic

         19  justice in our community.

         20                 Last year we began to document the

         21  experiences of supermarket workers and we found that

         22  neighborhood supermarkets become hellish sweatshops

         23  at night, after they close their doors. When the

         24  gates come down, night shift cleaners are locked in

         25  the stores for as long as thirteen hours with no way
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          2  out.  Workers have seen managers disconnect phones,

          3  and lock emergency exits. Supermarket janitors are

          4  afraid to complain about this dangerous condition

          5  for fear of retaliation and losing their jobs.

          6                 My organization spoke to workers that

          7  identified as many as thirty- six stores locking

          8  them in at night in the boroughs of Brooklyn,

          9  Queens, Manhattan, and the Bronx.  We felt we were

         10  discovering only the tip of the iceberg, and on July

         11  of 2004, we shared this information with the New

         12  York City Fire Department and the press in order to

         13  raise awareness.  FAC also formed a coalition with

         14  MFY Legal Services, The National Employment Project,

         15  and the New York Committee for Occupational Safety

         16  and Health to put an end to these practices.  Brave

         17  individuals like Antonio, who have experienced this

         18  practice, have come forward to tell their stories.

         19  Unfortunately, workers have told us that the

         20  conditions persist.

         21                 This life- threatening practice

         22  exists in New York City supermarkets the same City

         23  where, in 1911, a fire at the Triangle Shirtwaist

         24  Factory, which of course, has been mentioned several

         25  times, killed a hundred and forty six workers locked
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          2  in, and paving the way for workplace safety

          3  regulations that the listed stores are accused of

          4  violating.  We cannot run the risk of having another

          5  Triangle Shirtwaist Factory tragedy in our City.  We

          6  need legislation that will put an end permanently to

          7  the practice of locking people in their workplaces.

          8                 In addition to an increase of fines,

          9  we strongly believe that targeted enforcement by the

         10  Fire Department is essential to preventing another

         11  tragedy.  This approach proved effective in the past

         12  with other sectors such as night clubs after the

         13  Happy Land fire.  We should not have to wait for

         14  another tragedy to ensure the safety of these

         15  workers.  We wouldn't be here today if existing law

         16  protected workers sufficiently.  And I think that's

         17  an important piece to underscore.  We urge you to

         18  pass Intro 629 and certainly thank you for all of

         19  your leadership on this.

         20                 JOEL SHUFRO:  My name is Joel Shufro.

         21  I'm the Executive Director of the New York Committee

         22  for Occupational Safety and Health, a coalition of

         23  two hundred local unions about three hundred

         24  individuals, lawyers, doctors, healthcare

         25  professionals, and rank- and- file workers dedicated
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          2  to ensuring that working people have safe and

          3  healthful workplaces.  I would like to commend the

          4  Council for attempting to address this issue.

          5                 It's hard to believe that we are

          6  meeting to discuss a law that would prohibit

          7  employees from being locked in workplaces.  Given

          8  the history of this City, one would think that this

          9  is an issue of the past.  That we are here today

         10  makes me think that the recent publication of David

         11  Vandrells' book "Triangle Shirtwaist Fire" the fire

         12  that changed America which details the terrible

         13  tragedy that happened ninety years ago not so far

         14  from here was mistitled.  Unfortunately this has

         15  happened all too frequently both in this country and

         16  in others recently.  The fire in Hamlet, North

         17  Carolina in which twenty- five workers died was a

         18  wake- up call to the fact that employers are still

         19  locking exits and creating hazardous working

         20  conditions.  Not only at night, but during the day.

         21                 Passage of this law is a no- brainer.

         22    However, what will be key to making this law

         23  effective is its enforcement.  This is not an easy

         24  law to enforce.  For example, while having broader

         25  application, the impetus for this legislation arose
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          2  out of immigrate workers who were engaged at night

          3  cleaning supermarkets who were locked in.  While the

          4  law allows, but does not require that inspections

          5  occur at night when violations are most likely to

          6  occur, we believe that unscrupulous employers will

          7  continue to violate the law unless there is a

          8  program of frequent, regular, unannounced

          9  inspections with significant penalties for first

         10  instance violation.  Both at night, and during the

         11  day.

         12                 We applaud the inclusion of the

         13  requirement of a minimum of fifty inspections be

         14  completed during the day.  However, we believe that

         15  number needs to be increased.  It is a good first

         16  step, but only a drop in the bucket.

         17                 We do not know the number of stores

         18  and restaurants covered by this legislation, but

         19  given their number in the City, fifty inspections is

         20  insufficient.  Given the low number of inspections,

         21  it is important that a complaint procedure and a

         22  public education campaign be included in this law.

         23  Since we are dealing with workers who are, for the

         24  most part, immigrants, who do not belong to a union

         25  and who are concerned that filing a complaint will
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          2  put their employment at risk, there needs to be

          3  strong anti retaliatory provisions which would allow

          4  a worker to be able to call in and be protected-

          5  call in outside organizations- call in and file a

          6  complaint and be protected from being fired.

          7                 Not only as provided for in this law

          8  for reinstatement and back pay, but fines for

          9  employers who engage in this behavior.  In addition

         10  workers should have the right to ask a community-

         11  based organization like NYCOSH or any of the other

         12  organizations who have testified here today, to file

         13  a complaint on their behalf.

         14                 Again, I thank the members of the

         15  Council who have taken the initiative to deal with

         16  this important safety and health issue confronting

         17  workers in this City.

         18                 JACQUELINE VIMO:  Hi, good afternoon.

         19    Council Member Yassky and other members of the

         20  Committee. My name is Jackie Vimo and I am here

         21  representing the New York Immigration Coalition We

         22  are a coalition of over a hundred and fifty

         23  organizations that work with immigrants across New

         24  York State.  I'm going to just briefly summarize my

         25  comments because I think a lot of my colleagues have
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          2  already made the points I was going to make.

          3                 I think that the two points I wanted

          4  to make today were just that of course, you know,

          5  we're here to urge you to pass Intro 629 because we

          6  think this is a very extremely important piece of

          7  legislation that will the abominable practice of

          8  locking in workers.  But also that this is a strong

          9  statement basically that this is a strong statement

         10  from the Council that the issue of worker lock- ins

         11  is a human rights issue, it's a legal issue, it's an

         12  immigrants rights issue and it's a workers rights

         13  issue.

         14                 I think that we're all on the same

         15  page that the practice of locking in workers is

         16  morally reprehensible, that these are human beings

         17  that are being locked into what are essentially fire

         18  boxes and that we don't want to have to wait until

         19  we see a repeat of the tragedy of the Triangle

         20  Shirtwaist Factory.

         21                 The second piece that I wanted to

         22  make is that the persistence of this illegal

         23  practice highlights the fact that there's a larger

         24  crisis in New York which is that there is a crisis

         25  of a failure to adequately enforce our laws.  And I

                                                            64

          1  CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  think that we have laws on the books that protect

          3  our workers and yet employers are routinely

          4  violating them.  And of course, a big part of this

          5  as many others have mentioned is that because many

          6  of them are immigrants and because employers know

          7  that it costs them less to break the law than to

          8  follow it.

          9                 I think that we need to send a clear

         10  message that there are not two sets of laws: One for

         11  immigrants and one for everyone else.  I think that

         12  we need to send a clear message that when you break

         13  the laws that you know there need to be consequences

         14  that are commensurate with the harm that is being

         15  crossed as Chairman Addabbo said earlier.

         16                 And of course, that is is a workers

         17  rights issue. This is an issue that affects both

         18  workers that are being locked in and Firefighters

         19  that are doing their job and putting their lives at

         20  risk as a result of unscrupulous employers.

         21                 So we really urge the Council to make

         22  the statement to pass this important bill on behalf

         23  of immigrants and all workers in New York City.

         24                 AMY SUGIMORI:  Hello, my name is Amy

         25  Sugimori, I am with the National Employment Law
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          2  Project.  Thank you, Council Member Yassky for your

          3  leadership on this.  And thank you for drawing

          4  attention to the horrible conditions that are faced

          5  by a workforce that is so often unseen and driven

          6  underground.

          7                 I want to try to cut to the chase and

          8  in my written testimony I provide some horrible

          9  statistics about the just unnecessary high rates of

         10  injury and death among immigrant workers around the

         11  country.  Just as some context, the National

         12  Employment Law Project is a non- profit national law

         13  and policy organization that has been advocating

         14  since 1969 on behalf of the working poor and

         15  unemployed.  Based on this experience we've seen

         16  this extraordinary phenomenon of immigrant workers

         17  having to face the horrible choice of accepting a

         18  job that they know to be dangerous in many cases but

         19  feeling that the choice is no job or a dangerous

         20  job.  The risk is risking your life versus risking

         21  no pay check and no way to feed yourself or your

         22  family.

         23                 I just wanted to provide some

         24  information from people who've done some research on

         25  this just as some context.  The US General
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          2  Accounting Office in fact, had done some research,

          3  looking at day laborers in the United Stated and

          4  looking at why there were such high rates of injury

          5  and illness and even death among day laborers and

          6  yet it seemed like the government wasn't able to

          7  solve this problem.  One of the conclusions that

          8  they came with that immigrants to the United States,

          9  particularly newer ones are more willing to accept

         10  lower wages and substandard work that offers few

         11  benefits or protections, which makes them attractive

         12  to unscrupulous employers who may exploit them as a

         13  source of cheap labor.

         14                 The UCLA doing a study on immigrant

         15  workers perceptions of workplace health and safety

         16  noted that workers know the work they are doing is

         17  dangerous.  People know that there are risks, and

         18  they know that if they are injured they're going to

         19  have limited medical care options, not necessarily

         20  having insurance, not having enough money to pay

         21  medical bills, not having any sort of governmental

         22  safety net to rely on.  And yet, respondents were

         23  saying that they just couldn't afford to worry

         24  because you need the job and have little control

         25  over working conditions.
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          2                 So anything that can be done to shed

          3  light on this, anything that can be done to ensure

          4  that all workers right which already exists to work

          5  in a safe and healthy environment is meaningfully

          6  enforced can help to stem the horrible tide of

          7  worker injury and death because of this, experience

          8  shows that low wage and immigrant workers,

          9  particularly those who are not members of unions who

         10  are not organized, are unlikely to make complaints

         11  about unsafe workplace conditions due to fear of

         12  retaliation, due to lack of awareness of rights or

         13  how to enforce them, who do you go to if your rights

         14  are violated.

         15                 And real or perceived lack of access

         16  to government agencies.  For example, once again the

         17  UCLA researchers found that legal status and lack of

         18  English skills have implication for worker sense of

         19  vulnerability with regard to their employers because

         20  they feel like their employers are going to abuse

         21  them by blacklisting them, by firing them or

         22  possibly turning them in to Immigration.

         23                 Without aggressive inspection and

         24  enforcement by government agencies and protection

         25  against retaliation for workers who speak up about
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          2  unsafe conditions, labor and employment laws go

          3  unenforced throughout entire industries.  When the

          4  cost of industrial accidents are disproportionately

          5  left to low wage and immigrant workers who suffer

          6  the injuries the system doesn't work. Unscrupulous

          7  employers who cut corners on safety and rely on

          8  workers fear of retaliation to avoid liability see a

          9  financial advantage to breaking the law.  Because of

         10  this, it is essential that we work together  to

         11  ensure that workers do not have to make the

         12  unacceptable choice between having to work under

         13  conditions they know to be unsafe or not having a

         14  job at all because they have been fired or

         15  blacklisted for speaking up about unsafe conditions.Thank

         16  you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you Amy

         18  and thank you to the entire panel of course, again,

         19  not just for today but it's a result of your work

         20  honestly that if we are able to get this addressed

         21  at all by the Fire Department, by the

         22  Administration,  it will be because of your work.

         23  So thank you.

         24                 I have a couple of questions.  Ms.

         25  Uz, based on your interviews and your looking at the
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          2  actual establishments did you come across any

          3  instances in which there had been unannounced

          4  nighttime inspections or any nighttime inspections

          5  period prior to your reporting them?

          6                 MICHELLE DE LA UZ: Definitely not.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I know you

          8  can't prove a negative but is it your sense that

          9  there are any?  Is it your sense that there simply

         10  are no such inspections outside of when a complaint

         11  is called in?

         12                 MICHELLE DE LA UZ:  Certainly our

         13  interviews with the workers that we spoke with in

         14  the thirty- six stores that we were able to identify

         15  did not prove that there were any nighttime

         16  inspections.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And again,

         18  I've got to believe, it's my rule of thumb that if

         19  somebody writes a letter to me about something, and

         20  I'm talking about educated, affluent constituents

         21  who have every right to expect government service if

         22  one person calls me or writes in I figure that

         23  there's probably another hundred who's having the

         24  same problem who haven't called me.  The same has

         25  got to be true here, more so.  In other words,
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          2  everybody that gets in contact with you or that you

          3  find there's gotta be another dozens and dozens out

          4  there.

          5                 MICHELLE DE LA UZ: We definitely

          6  think this is the tip of the iceberg and after the

          7  press conference that was held in March, when we

          8  announced the phone number that people could call in

          9  more incidents have been reported of people being

         10  locked in, so it does, I think absolutely underscore

         11  what you are saying.  The more awareness that people

         12  have of this practice, the more likely it's going to

         13  be reported.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Do you think,

         15  I'm curious whether this is a recent phenomenon.

         16  Has it been for fifty years in New York?  Have

         17  supermarkets locked people in overnight or is this

         18  relatively recent do you think?

         19                 MICHELLE DE LA UZ: I'm not so sure we

         20  know that, I mean it's certainly has been a

         21  practice.  Antonio's testimony as someone who's been

         22  in the industry for five years certainly underscores

         23  that it's been a practice for at least the recent

         24  past.               COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I do

         25  connect this to a larger phenomenon we're seeing, a
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          2  larger pattern, of an assault on some of the basic

          3  New Deal protections and rights that I thought we

          4  had settled seventy years ago.  Frankly, I took for

          5  granted as a member of this society.  I really think

          6  this is not unrelated to a Supreme Court nominee

          7  who's being voted on in the Senate today who says

          8  the New Deal was taking away property rights.  The

          9  Administration in Washington that is ready to say

         10  Social Security doesn't work and we've got to change

         11  it, in reality, get rid of it.  These are some of

         12  the fundamental building blocks of our modern

         13  society here that now are being not just questioned

         14  but eroded.

         15                 And it's not only related to the

         16  modern day kind of robber baron types that are

         17  amassing enormous fortunes that were written about

         18  in the New York Times over the last couple of weeks.

         19  It's like the 1880s where there's the ethic of

         20  untrammeled capitalism is, I think we have an ethic

         21  of untrammeled capitalism that you really haven't

         22  seen since pre- New Deal.  And the work that you are

         23  doing is a small step, but it's a step in the right

         24  direction.  So I thank you for it.  Thank you Chair

         25  Addabbo.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you

          3  Council Member Yassky and I do apologize to this

          4  panel for stepping out for a vote across the street.

          5    A question to this panel. It was referred to by a

          6  previous panel that this is a invisible problem and

          7  I don't know if this was addressed while I was away,

          8  but do you see it as that?  Do you see that this is

          9  a problem that maybe even a growing issue but that

         10  we have a lot of education to do for employees

         11  throughout the City and if you do feel that way as I

         12  am convinced we are as well, what steps do we take

         13  other than law suits that would obviously catch the

         14  attention of many.  What ideas do you have in

         15  educating our employees throughout the City?

         16                 JOEL SHUFRO: It seems to me that we

         17  need to have a public awareness campaign that has a

         18  number of components.  You need information that

         19  goes out to the public perhaps through the subways

         20  with an eight- hundred number that people can call.

         21  You need on- the- job training and to a large

         22  extent, this problem is not different than the range

         23  of occupational safety and health issues that

         24  workers face on the job for which they need to

         25  figure out- most workers who are not in unions if
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          2  they exercise their rights are shown the door.  So

          3  the first and foremost thing that you need to be

          4  able to do is create a climate in which workers feel

          5  that they can call and that they will not be

          6  retaliated against. Because the climate of fear is

          7  so great that generally, I'd say workers will not

          8  respond to this.  So that I think is the most

          9  important thing.

         10                 The second most important thing I

         11  think is to have a fine structure which is

         12  publicized so that employers know that if they

         13  violate this law that on the first instance basis

         14  they are going to be hit with a significant fine and

         15  it says it to other employers throughout the City

         16  that they will be penalized significantly

         17  financially.  That I think would have the second

         18  most salutary effect.

         19                 AMY SUGIMORI:  I'd actually like to

         20  add to that briefly.  I think another thing that we

         21  all spoke to too was just the incredible imbalance

         22  of power that exists with regard to workers and

         23  their employers and I think one of the things that's

         24  unfortunately true is that workers are often making

         25  informed, intelligent choices not to complain about
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          2  workplace safety and health violations because the

          3  risks are so high.

          4                 You know if the risks are losing your

          5  job, the risks are being blacklisted, the risks are

          6  getting in trouble somehow, the risks are possibly

          7  being turned over to immigration, those are a lot of

          8  good reasons not to speak up unless, as Joel pointed

          9  out, you know that you are safe in doing it and you

         10  won't face retaliation.  So I think as I pointed out

         11  in my testimony, workers know they are working under

         12  unsafe conditions.  There is no question about that.

         13    The problem is that workers also know that the

         14  risks they face by speaking up and why it's so brave

         15  that some workers do, is another factor to be taken

         16  into consideration.  I think an important point that

         17  was made earlier is that workers who are unionized

         18  are part of some kind of organized workforce are

         19  more insulated.  The balance of power shifts.  I

         20  think thinking strategically about how to make

         21  government take responsibility for enforcement is

         22  another way to help right that.

         23            One more final comment.  I think also of

         24  your comment about welfare reform and the regimen of

         25  the New Deal, I mean, this is part of the systemic
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          2  erosion of workers rights, of immigrants rights and

          3  one of the things, and this is kind of a side note,

          4  there's a Federal ban on legal services funding for

          5  undocumented immigrants.  One thing that's happening

          6  is while MFY Legal Services and Fifth Avenue

          7  Committee and NYCOSH and NYELP provides some limited

          8  assistance to the many, many thousands of workers in

          9  New York City who don't have access to other kinds

         10  of legal services funding, then the we're going to

         11  opportunities initiative that the City Council put

         12  in the budget last year was the first City- wide

         13  from the Council initiative to fund services for

         14  immigrants who can't otherwise seek services.  So we

         15  hope that you would continue to fund this initiative

         16  next year so that we can expand the programs.  My

         17  plug.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  A budget plug.

         19  OK.  It is the season.  Well, you put up a good

         20  point and I always say the money we spend whether it

         21  be with groups like yourself or even with the City

         22  Administration as we increase the number of

         23  inspectors.  That would also help.  And to Mr.

         24  Shufro's point about public awareness, I think

         25  that's very important, whether it be with the law
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          2  suits, whether it be with passage of legislation

          3  like this, I think there needs to be a public

          4  awareness for the employees so that obviously this

          5  issue is on the forefront of the minds of some

          6  employees who are put in that dangerous situation.

          7                 At this point that's what hearings

          8  like this are for.  Ironing out issues on this

          9  legislation but to bring an issue to light and

         10  again, I'll thank to an extent the media who might

         11  have been here today.  They report on it. That too

         12  also brings to light this issue that had been

         13  referred to, and I'll keep referring to it myself as

         14  an invisible issue that has, again, risked many

         15  lives amongst those employees throughout the City.

         16                 Any other questions?  I want to thank

         17  this Panel for their time and testimony today, thank

         18  you very much for being here. And I'll thank all

         19  witnesses who were here today and all of you who are

         20  in the audience.  Today was the first step in what

         21  we are hopeful as to again, protect the lives of

         22  hundreds of thousands of workers throughout the City

         23  as they are locked in, against their will to save

         24  their job and put in a dangerous situation.  And I

         25  am hopeful that Intro 629 does have a future among
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          2  the record books of this great City.

          3                 Once again, thank you very much

          4  ladies and gentlemen.  This meeting is adjourned.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 2:55 p.m.)
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